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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OFHAWAII

OSIAN MORRIS Civ. No. 1500261IMSKSC
Plaintiff, ORDERGRANTING IN PART AND
DENYING IN PART
VS. DEFENDANT'SMOTION FOR

SUMMARY JUDGMENT, ECF
VERIZON FEDERAL, INC., a Foreign | NO. 60
Profit Corporation; et al.

Defendand.

ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT'S
MOTION FOR SUMMARY J UDGMENT, ECF NO. 60

l. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Osian Morris (“Plaintiff” or “Morris”), a currenemployee of
Defendan¥erizon Federalinc. (“Defendarit or “Verizon”), brings this action
againstVerizonseeking damages foostile work environmentgtaliation and
disability discriminatiorunder both federal and state law

Currently before the aot is Defendant’sMotion for Summary
Judgment (Defendans Motion”), ECFNo. 60. For the reasons that follow, the

court GRANTS in part and DENIES in pd&yefendans Motion.
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. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

Verizon has two primary locations in Hawaii: (1) the 397 office at the
Pearl Harbor Naval Base (“397”), where employees primarily work on installation
and maintenance; and (2) Aiea, where employees primarily splice cables. Mattos
Decl. 3, ECF No. 612. In February 201(Rlaintiff began working foverizonas
a splicing technician in Aee Morris Dep.14:1-5, 36:237:16,Mar. 28, 2016ECF
No. 614. Beginning inFebruary2011, Plaintiff workedinderVerizon employee
Gordon Mattos (“Mattos”), the Outse Plant Supervisor at Aiea. Mattos Decl.
114, 6.

During a tweyear period ranging from March 2011 to June 2013
Plaintiff alleges that she was “constantly subjected taliscriminatory epithets
based on both my sex and my sexual orientation, as well as numerous derogatory
comments from fellow employees and managers that they did not want to work
with [her], that [she] should not be there, and other comments.” Morris D&cl. |
ECF No. 862. Plaintiff “specifically recall[s] repeatedly hearing teems,
‘bitch,” ‘gay,’ ‘dyke,” and ‘faggot.” Id.

Beginning n March 2011, at the start of this twear periodMattos

assigned Plaintiff to aable splicingoroject for Time Warner Cable, but in April
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2011, Time Warner Cable informed Mattos that Plaintiff needed to be replaced
Mattos Decl 18, 9. Mattos then reassigned Plaintiff to 397, switchingvaidin
an employee at 397 who had splicing experiendef 9.
1. Plaintiff's Time at 397

On April 18, 2011, Plaintiff began working at 39vhere she joined
the troubleshooting groudd. 13; Morris Dep. 47:225. The group consisted of
Plaintiff and approximately nine men, all of whom were supervised by Verizon
employee Tom Cathcart (“CathcartMorris Dep. 73:2475:17.

On Novembed, 2011, Plaintiff filed an internal complaint regarding
two incidents that happened two months earlMattos Decl. TL8. First, o
September 23, 201PJaintiff told Cathcart that she believed he was treating her
unfairly after he assigned her morenkdhat afternoon Morris Dep.148:13
149:10. Cathcartreplied “I fucking bring you on my team. You fucking don’t
appreciate. You better wake udd. 145:23146:16. Second, on September 27,
2011,Plaintiff double parked heranalong a fenceutsice of 397.1d. 151:412.
Although other Verizon employees were also double parked along the fence,
Plaintiff’'s vanwas blocking a gateld. 151:2024. As Cathcart drove by Plaintiff
(still in her van), he called Plaintiff and told her to move her \dn152:723.

Cathcart then parked his car, approached Plaintiff, and yelled at her to move her
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van. Id. In response to Plaintiff's November 4, 2011 internal compl@iathcart
was counseled to treat employees with respect. Ex. L, ECF Nit.61

On March 26, 2012, Mattos moved Cathcart to Aiea and promoted
Verizon employee Manny Contreras (“Contreras”) to acting supervisor at 397.
Mattos Decl. 3. On July 10, 2012, Plaintiff filed an internal complaint
concerning &ouple of instances when Contreras greeted the group with “Good
morning, men” during morning briefings. Llewellyn DecB JECF No. 613. On
July 11, 2012, Verizon employee Deborah Llewellyn (“Llewellyn™), a support
person in Human Resources (“HR”), contacted Plaintiff about her compldint.
110. During the phone call, Plaintiff reiterated Contreras’s greeting, and also
requested that her group take classes on harassment and discrimilaation.
Verizon employee Dave Brown (“Brown”), Contreras’s manager, counseled
Contrerasd avoid gendebased greetings and to instead use words such as
“team.” EX. N, ECF No. 616. Plaintiff does not remember Contreras using
genderbased greetings after she filed her internal complaint. Morris Dep.-157:9
12. In response to Plaintiff's request for a class, Llewellyn arranged for a “Respect
in the Workplace” training, which was administered to all Verizon employees in

Hawaii on August 22, 2012. Llewellyn Decl1$, 15.



In August 2012, Plaintiff filed two separate internal complaintse T
first complaint, filed on August 9, 2012, reported “misconduct in the workplace”
regarding events on August 6, 7, and 8, 2012. Ex. O at 1, ECF Ng@. 6@n
August 6, 2012Plaintiff attended a morning meeting with other Verizon
employees, anderizon employee Steven Chee (“Chekila[de] comments to
Clarence Lewis that he looks like he is going to be in the ‘gay parade’ and the rest
of the team start[ed] to laughld. at 2. The next morning, Chee made a
“comment about grabbing Mr. Lewis blyet shirt and bending him overlt. And
on August 8, 2012, AT&T supervisor Penny Bortman (“Bortman”) “walked by
[the Verizon employees’] table and said ‘good morning fellakd’”

Thesecond complainfiled on August 23, 201,Zoncerned comments
madeat that day’s morning meetir{the morning after the “Respect in the
Workplace” training) Ex. R, ECF No61-20. Contreras “announced to employees
that Oliver Reyes had an announcement,” and “Gabriel Preciado yelled out, that
[Contreras] ‘is coming out of the closet.ld. at 2. Contreraseplied“Yeah, yeah,
he’s coming out of the closetId.

2. Plaintiff Goes on Medical Leave for Work Stress

On August 23, 2012, Plaintiff went out aredical leave for work

stress.Llewellyn Decl. 117; Ex. UU, ECF No. 643.
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During that timeLlewellyn and Verizon employee Theresa Boudet
(“Boudet”) launchedan investigationn response t®laintiff's August 2012
internal complaintsLlewellyn Decl. Y18. Lewellyn and Boudenterviewed
several Verizon employees between September 10 and October 2, 2012, including
Glenn Gouveia, Brad Cathcdrarry Andaya, Van Kinilau, Darryl Goya, Noa
Kaopuiki, Clarence Lewis, Steven Chee, and Gabriel PreciaddOn October 4,
2012, Llewellyn emailed Plaintiff to inform her that Verizon completed its
investigation and would be “taking the appropriate steps to address the respective
matters.” Ex. EE, ECF No. 633. The next dgyChee and Preciado wergn“a
documented Verbal Warning for inappropriate and unprofessional conduct in
violation of the Code.”Llewellyn Decl.{ 23;see alsd&x. FF, ECF No. 6B4; Ex.

GG, ECF No. 6435.

Plaintiff believed that Llewellyn’s October 4, 2012 email meant that
she cold return to work, and Plaintiff subsequently attempted to return to work on
October 5, 2012. Ex. VV, ECF No.84. But it does not appear that anyone
knew she was planning to retwn that day See, e.gLlewellyn Decl. | 25;

Mattos Decl. T 25, 2Morris Dep. 216:2217:1.

! Not to be confused with Tom Cathcart, Brad Cathcart’s brother.



Prior to hermedical leavePlaintiff had primarily used a specific
Verizon ‘bucket truck for her job. Mattos Decl. { 28Because there were a
limited number of bucket trucks, Mattos allowed other Verizon employees to use
Plantiff's bucket truck while Plaintiff was out on leavé&d. When Plaintiff
arrived at work on October 5, 2012, another Verizon employee had her bucket
truck. Morris Dep. 216:1:26, 217:28. Later, Contreras informed Plaintiffat
she was not gettindpé truck back, alse was reassigning the truck to a different
employeeid. 224:1621, and this reassignment was “permanent,” Morris Decl.
7112, Mattos called Plaintiff, requesting her doctor’s release, but she could not find
it. Morris Dep.228:8229:5. Plaintiff used her personal truck to do some work,
but went home after two hourtd. 226:1521, 231:2124. Plaintiff extended her
medical leave until March 14, 2018. 231:21232:2.

On November 1, 2012, Plaintiff filed an internal complaint reyayr
the bucket truck incident on October 5, 2012. Ex. WW, ECF Nd561
Llewellyn’s investigation into the incident “failed to yield evidence that the actions
that occurred on October 5, 2012 constituted discrimination or retaliation against
Morris.” Llewellyn Decl. § 26.0n December 2, 2012, Llewellyn emailed Plaintiff

the results of the investigation. Ex. XX, ECF No-4&l



3. HR Conducts Newnvestigation andPlaintiff Returns to Aiea

Plaintiff returned to work on March 14, 2013, and chose to be
assigned to Aiea rather than stay at 38X. J, ECF No. 6112, Mattos Decl. 9.
This decision was consistent with her doctor’s recommendation. Ex. H, ECF No.
61-11. At Aiea, Cathcart was once again her supervisor. Morris Dep. 236:15

Before Morris returned to work, she sent HR signed statements from
Verizon employee Harry Andaya (“Andaya”), dated March 5, 2013, and Verizon
employee Van Tanabe (“Tanabe”), dated March 10, 2018wellyn Decl. 129;
Ex. Il, ECF No. 6137; Ex. JJ, ECF No. 638. The statements described the
allegedly hostile working conditions Plaintiff endu@d397 EXx. II, ECF No. 61
37; Ex. JJ, ECF No. 638. For instance, Andaya writes that Verizon employees
“made comments about [Plaintiff] being gay constantly,” which he then told
Plaintiff. Ex. Il, ECF No. 6437.

In April 2013, Llewellyn and Michelle Starks (“Starks”) condecth
new investigation into Plaintiff's complaints. Llewellyn DecB2l Llewellyn and
Starks interviewed Plaintiff, Andaya, Tanabe, Cathcart, Brown, Mattos, Castre
and Gauveia, among otherdd. In a May 9, 2013 email to Plaintiff, LIewellyn
explained how Verizon needed “to establish and clarify policies and procedures in

a number of areas.” Ex. KK, ECF No.-82. In addition, Llewellyn
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recommendethat an earlieunrelatedhreeday suspensioftom October 27,
2011 be rescinded and Plaintiff provided with back pay for the susperdipn.
Llewellyn Decl. §35. The recommeradions were adoptedd. {/ 36.

On May 25 and 27, 2013, Plaintiff emailed Lewellyn complaining
about an incident on May 22, 2013. Ex. YY, ECF No481 Cathcart warned
Plaintiff and her coworkers that they were “being watched for safety violations.”
Id. When Plaintiff later contacted Cathcart to get “a manhole entry sheet,”
Cathcart “flipped” and claimed their actions were a safety violationLewellyn
investigated and concluded that Cathcart was appropriately upset with Plaintiff and
her male oworker for violating established safety procedures. Llewellyn Decl.
138; Ex. ZZ, ECF No. 648.

4. Plaintiff Goes on Medical Leave for a WorRelated Physical Injury

On June 17, 2013, Plaintiffent on medical leave after injuring her
back when workig in amanhole. Ex. CCC, ECF No. &D; Mattos Decl. B1.

a. Accommodating “Light Duty”

Dr. Leonard N. Cupo (“Dr. Cupo”) evaluated Plaintiff and completed
a medical report, dated August 15, 2013. Ex. 1, ECF Nd. 73r. Cupo
concluded:

[Plaintiff] is not totally disabled and can work full time
limited duty as she completes further diagnostic testing
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and treatmenof . . .the injury of 6/17/13with the
following restrictions: no squatting, kneeling, or ladder
climbing; no driving a commercial vehicle; no standing
greater than 15 minutes without a firenute sitting
break; and no lifting greater than 15 Ibs.

In November 2013, Morris began communicating with Llewellyn
Verizon employee Cynthia Clark (“Clark’and Verizon emploge Linda
Cerminaro (“Cerminaro’))through email and phone caltegarding Plaintiff's
possible return to work. Ex. NN, ECF No.-81; Llewellyn Decl. #3. On
November 22, 2013, Cerminaro emailed Plaintiff to memorialize a phone
conversation they had the day prior. Ex. BiN8 ECF No. 6341. In the email,
Cerminaro lists all of Plaintiff’s restrictiorand states that Plaintiff “requested
‘light duty’ in some unspecified fashionltd. She also writes that Plaintiff
“openly stated that [she] could not return to work to perform [her] job at this time
since basic tasks like getting in and out of the truck and walking on terrain would
be very difficult.” Id. Cerminaro determined that Plaintiff's “request for light duty
does not have an end in sight, is open ended and unreasordble.”

OnNovember 26, 2013, Clark sent Plaintiff an email to follow up on
their previous phone calld. at 5. Plaintiff forwarded the email to her attorney,

Charles H. Brower (“Brower”), who told her to “[t]ell them yate represented by
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counsel and you can not speak to them. Tell them they can contadioimet. 6.
It does not appear that Plaintiff replied to Clark’s November 26, 2013 email.
On April 10, 2014, Cerminaro emailed Plaintifffallow up of
[Verizon’g] efforts to determine [Plaintiff's] return to work statudd. at 7. In the
email, Cerminaro details how Plaintiff's restrictions “were last evaluated on March
13, 2014,” and included:
No lifting/carrying over 15 pounds.
No bending at the knees.
No work above chest height.
Must be able to lie down for 10 minutes for every

hour spent working.
5.  Only allowed to work up to four hours per day.

PN e

Id. Cerminarahenexpressed howerizon could not reasonabiccommodate
Plaintiff's restrictions:

Unfortunately, your request for some form of “light duty”
assignment is not one that can be accommodated. As you
know, Verizon’s operations in Hawaii are limited. Its
workforce in Hawaii consists almost exclusivefy o
technicians and management. There are no “light duty”
technician assignments, nor are there any management
positions that you are qualified to fill.

That same day, Plaintiff replied to Cerminaro and told her to “send all
correspondence to Verizon Atty Petit and she can contact my Attorreeyat 9.

Cerminaro emailed Plaintiff again on July 18, 2014, requesting an update on her
11



restrictions and a prognosis as to when they would be reliaxed 1213, and
Plaintiff again told Cerminaro to contact Browek,at 12.

On January 6, 2015, Cerminaro emailed Plaintiff once alijsting
Plaintiff’s relatively unchanged restrictions and requesting a prognosis for
“whether and when each of the above restrictions will be removed so that
[Plaintiff] can perform the essential functions of [her] positiolal’at 21. The
email states that it is enclosing a letterPtaintiff's doctor, Dr. Frank lzuta Dr.
lzuta”), requesting that he send Verizon his progndsis.Plaintiff replied the
next day questioning a chart of job requiremeXeyizon sent to Dr. Izutand
requesting “a more accurate chart of the splicing or station positions at Verizon.”
Id.

On January 30, 2015, Cerminaro replied to Plaintiff's January 7, 2015
email. Id. at 20. In the email, Cerminaro notes that Verizon recddretzuta’s
prognosis and that Plaintiff might be able to return to full duty work after “a six
week course of work hardenirigld. Cerminaro goes on to “confirm[] that the
charts accurately state the physical requirements of [Plaintiff's] positidn.She
then requests that Plaintiff “advise as to the status of [her] restrictions and return to

work by March 3, 2015.1d. There is no record of a response to this email.
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b. Changing Plaintiff's Lifing Requirements

Dr. lzutacompleted a “Workers’ Compensation Treatment Plan,”
signed February 23, 2015, that outlines Plaintiff's rehabilitation program. EX. 16,
ECF No. 683. The plan includes a “schedule of measurableabibes” that lists
two goals to reach by April 3, 2015: (1) Plaintiff going from carrying 43 pounds
infrequently to carrying 60 pounds occasionally; and (2) Plaintiff going from squat
lifting 35 pounds infrequently to squat lifting 60 pounds occasiondly.

Mattos completed &ob Analysis” report for Plaintiff's rehabilitation
program, dated October 13, 2015. Ex. 17-&f ECF No. 764. In the report,

Mattos checked boxes to indicate that Plaintiff’'s job required the ability to
infrequently lift and carry over one hundnedunds.Id. at 4.

By letterto Verizon,dated December 1, 2015, Plaintiff explains that
she “had understood that all [she] needed to qualify for unrestricted return to work
as Verizon required was . to be able to lift up to 60 poundsld. at 1. She then
describesa new form .. from Gordon Mattos ... that states [she has] to be able
to lift up to 100+ pounds.’id. The letter requests a return to the sigbund
lifting requirement.Id. at 1-2.

Plaintiff sent a second letter to Verizalated January 8, 2016,

updatingher previous reques include additional informationEx. 18, ECF No.
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69-1. First, she explains how “[a]n attorney for Verizon stated to [her] attorney on
December 15, 2015 that the reason for the 100 pound lifting requirement was that
manhole covers are heavy and are hard to dislodge sometildesShe contests

that, referencing how workers have tools available to dislodge heavy manhole
covers.Id.

By letter dated January 22, 2016, Verizon employee Winsome Taik
responded to Plaintiff's January 8, 2016 letter, including workplace
accommodation forms for Plaintiff to complete. Ex. 19, ECF Ne2.69

On March 1, 2016, Plaintiff performed a Functional Capacity
Evaluation (“FCE”) Ex. 20, ECF No. 68. Although be passed most
requirements, she failed the “Lift Floor to Waist Infrequent 100+ Ibs.” requirement
because she could only lift “96 Ibsld. As a result, the FCE concluded that
Plaintiff was not qualified for full time, full duty workld.

Despite &iling the FCE, Plaintiff returned to work without restriction
on March 15, 2016. Llewellyn Decl.3R. Since her return to work, she does not
claim to have experienced any unfair treatment. Morris Dep. 3PE21
B. Procedural Background

Plaintiff filed her Complaint on June 8, 2015, ECF N&, and

Defendant filed a Notice of Removal from the Circuit Court of the First Circuit,
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State of Hawaii, on July 13, 2015, ECF No.Plaintiff assert$our claims against
Defendant under federal and state I&ly:hostile work environment;
(2) retaliation; (3)disability discrimination; and (4ailure to investigate and
failure to prevent discrimination and harassment. Cémpl.

On March 7, 2017, Defendant filed its Motion for Summary
Judgment. ECF No. 6Plaintiff filed her Opposition on April 10, 2017, ECF No.
64, and Defendant filed its Reply on May 1, 2017, ECF No. 86. A hearing was
held on July 10, 2017.

lll. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is proper where there ige@ouine issue of
material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.
Fed.R. Civ. P. 56(a).Rule 56(a) mandates summary judgment “against a party
who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element
essentiato the party’s case, and on which that party will kearburden of proof
at trial.” Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986ee also Broussard v.

Univ. of Cal. at Berkeley192 FE3d 1252, 1258 (9th Cir. 1999).

2 At the July 10, 2017 hearing, Plaintiff's counsel clarified the Complaint, ECF No. 7-3,
and stated that Plaintiff is not raising: (1) a sexual discrimination claim basecuaiverse
employment action; or (2) any common law tort claim (such as negligent or intémitinogon
of emotianal distress).
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“A party seeking summary judgant bears the initial burden of
informing the court of the basis for its motion ariddentifying those portions of
the pleadings and discovery responses that demonstrate the absence of a genuine
issue of materidiact.” Soremekun v. Thrifty Pkss, Inc,. 509 F.3d 978, 984 (9th
Cir. 2007) (citingCelotex 477 U.S. at 323see also Jespersen v. Harrah's
Operating Co.392 F.3d 1076, 1079 (9th Cir. 2004). “When the moving party has
carried its burden under Rule 56[(a)] its opponent must do tharesimply show
that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts [and] come forward
with specific facts showing that there ig@nuine issue for tridl Matsushita
Elec. Indus. Cov. Zenith Radip475 U.S. 574, 5887 (1986) (citatiorandinternal
guotation markemitted);see also Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, J#Z7 U.S. 242,
247-48 (1986) (stating that a party cannot “rest upon the alkrgations or
denials of higpleading”in opposing summary judgment).

“An issue is ‘genuine’ only if there is a sufficient evidentiary basis on
which a reasonable fact finder could find for the nonmoving party, and a dispute is
‘material’ only if it could affect the outcome of tkait under the governing law.”

In re Barboza545 F.3d 702, 707 (9%ir. 2008 (citing Anderson477 U.S. at

248). When considering the evidence on a motion for summary judgment, the
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court must draw alleasonable inferences on behalf of the nonmoving party.
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Gal75 U.S. at 587.

V. DISCUSSION

A.  Hostile Work Environment

Plaintiff alleges that the conduct of her Verizon coworkers and
supervisors created a hostile work environment in violation of Title VII, 42 U.S.C.
§2000e et seq. (“Title VII"). Compfi139-43; Pl.’s Op’n at 1625.

“An employer is liable under Title VII for conduct giving rise to a
hostile work environment where the employee proves (1) that [she] was subjected
to verbal or physical conduct of a harassing nature, (2) that this conduct was
unwelcomeand (3) that the conduct was sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter
the conditions of the victim’s employment and create an abusive working
environment.” Pavon v. Swift Transp. Co., Ind92 F.3d 902, 908 (9th Cir. 1999).
“The working environment must both subjectively and objectibelgerceived as
abusive,” with the objective prong viewed from the “perspective of a reasonable
[womar].” Fuller v. City of Oaklang47 F.3d 1522, 1527 (9th Cir. 1995). Further,
“[in determining whether a work environment is sufficiently hostile, the court
evaluates the totality of the circumstanceiSuller v. IdahoDept't of Corr, 2017

WL 3223005, at *§9th Cir. July 31, 2017).
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Employees can hold employers liable for the conductsoipervisor
or a coworker.Swinton v. Potomac Cor@270 F.3d 794, 803 (9th Cir. 2001).
Where the harasser is a supervisor, the employer may be vicariously liable for his
conduct. Id. But where the harassis a coworkerithe plaintiff must prove that
the employer was negligemng. that the employer knew or should have known of
the harassment but did not take adequate steps to addrdss it.”

Plaintiff submitted myriad internal complaintsVerizonregarding
the verbal conduct of her supervisarsl coworkers See, e.gMattos Decl. 1.8
(November 4, 2011 complaint); Llewellyn Decl9{March 26, 2012 complaint);
Ex. O, ECF No. 6417 (August 9, 2012 complaint); Ex. R, ECF No-&L(August
23, 2012 complaint); Ex. WW, ECF No.d5b (November 12012 complaint); Ex.
YY, ECF No. 6147 (May 25, 2013 complaint). Verizon investigated Plaintiff's
complaints, and in some instances, disciplined the offending emplwyeahsir
inappropriate commentsSee, e.g.Ex. FF, ECF No. 6B4; Ex. GG, ECF N6 1-
35. Clearly, Plaintiff has met elements one and two.

As to element three, there ig@nuinedispute of material fact as to
whether the conduct was sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of
the victim’s employment and create an abusive working environmat/on

192 F.3d at 908. Plaintiff's Declaration states:
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From March 2011 to June of 2013, | was constantly

subjected to other discriminatory epithets based on both

my sex and my sexual orientation, as well as numerous

derogatory comments from fellow employees and

managers that they did not want to work with me, that |

should not be there, and other comments. Among these, |

specifically recall repeatedly hearing thents, “bitch,”

“‘gay,” “dyke,” and “faggot” as being said in my

presence.

Morris Decl. 6 (“Paragraph Six“)see alsd_lewellyn Decl. 19 (Contreras
greeted Plaintiff and coworkers with “Good Morning, MeriEx. O, ECF No. 61
17 (Chee, in Plaintiff's presence, made comments about Lewis being in a “gay
parade” and “bending him over”); Morris Dep. 14528:16 (Cathcart yelled at
Plaintiff “I fucking bring you on my team. You fucking don’t appreciate. You
better wake up.”)

Defendant argues that Paragraph Six is insufficient to survive
summary judgment because it is (1) conclusory; and ‘(@hani affidavit. Def.’s
Reply at 7. The court disagrees. First, a conclusory affidavit exists where it
“lack[s] detailed facts and any supporting evidendeTrCyv. Publ’g Clearing
House, Inc.104 F.3d 1168, 1171 (9th Cir. 1997). Here, Paragraph Six incdudes
specific time frame anspecific terms coworkers used toward her, Blaintiff's

deposition references specific instances when they were used. Molli§ Bec

see, e.g.Morris Dep. 106:24108:16. Second, Plaintiff's Declaration is far from a

19



“sham affidavit,” as “the inconsistency between a party’s deposition testimony and
subsequent affidavit must be clear and unambiguous to justify striking the
affidavit.” Van Asdale v. Int'l Game Te¢h77 F.3d 989, 9989 (9th Cir. 2009).

Here, as just stated, Plaintiff's deposition sufficiently supports her affidaes,

e.g, Morris Dep. 107:43 (“[Cathcart] was calling me a bitch a lot, just singling me
out, yelling at me in front of everybody, humiliating me, taunting.”).

The allegations set forth iparagraplsix, coupled with the other
evidence presented, aggough for Plaintiff to survive summary judgmeAt this
stage, the court must weigh the evidence in favor of the nonmoving party.
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Ga175 U.S. at 587And, weighing Plaintiff's
Declaration in Plaintiff’'s favorand considering the totality of the evidenae,
reasonable fadinder could find that repeatedly being callbgch,” “gay,”

“dyke,” and “faggot” by “fellow employees and managers” over ayaar period
in addition to the more specific instances of harassment set forth abeaied a

sufficiently hostile work environment to violate Title \AI.

% The court recognizes, in relation to some co-worker harassment, that Verizon took
adequate steps (at least at times) as a corrective measure. Nonetheless, therees-evi
viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiffthat Plaintiff's supervisaralsocreateda hostile
work environmenfor Plaintiff. Thus, under a totality of the circumstances, a reasonable woman
could perceive Plaintiff's environment as sufficiently abusi8ee generallZity of Oakland47
F.3d at 1527.
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As to Plaintiff's hostile work environment claim, Defendant’s Motion
iIs DENIED.
B. Retaliation

Plaintiff argues that Verizon retaliated against her, in violation of Title
VII, * when Mattos permanently reassigned her bucket truck to another employee.
Compl.1934, 40; Pl.’s Opp’n at30-33°

1. McDonnell DouglasFramework

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greegdll U.S. 792 (1973), provides a
useful and accepted framework to address Title VII discrimination and retaliation
claims. McGinest v. GTE Serv. Cor®60 F.3d 1103, 1122 (9th Cir. 2004) (citing
Costa v. Desert Palac299 F.3d 838, 855 (9th Cir. 2002) (en banc)). When
responding to a summary judgment motion, the plaintiff “may proceed by using the
McDonnell Douglagramework, or alternatively, may simply produce direct or
circumstantial evidence demonstrating” discriminatory or retaliatory intent.

That is, a plaintiff may respond by producing evidence “demonstrating that a

“ Because Plaintiff$ederal and state claims are analyzed under the Sabennell
Douglasframework, the court does not distinguish between the claims in its an@gss.
Schefke v. Reliable Collection Agency, L82 P.3d 52, 69-7(Haw. 2001).

> At the July 10, 2017 teeing, Plaintiff's counsel clarified that Plaintiff's retaliation
claim is narrowly limited to the reassignment of her bucket truck to another esgpdoyg she
was not pursuing her work reassignment as a basis for her retaliation claim

21



discriminatory [or retaliatory] reason more likely than not motivated the
employer.” Surrell v. Cal. Water Serv. G&d18 F.3d 1097, 1105 (9th Cir. 2008)
(quotingMetoyer v. Chassmab04 F.3d 919, 931 (9th Cir. 2007)). Here, the
parties present theirgpective arguments under the traditiodaDonnell Douglas
framework.

Under Title VII, an employer may not discriminate against an
employee because the employee has opposed an employment practice made
unlawful by Title VII. See42 U.S.C. § 20008(a) (It shall be an unlawful
employment practice for an employer to discriminate against any of his employees
.. . because he has opposed any practice [prohibited by Title VII] . . . or because he
has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated mamyer in an
Investigation, proceeding, or hearing under [Title VII]Byrlington N. & Santa
Fe Ry. Co. v. Whitéb48 U.S. 53, 59 (2006) (“Title VII's antiretaliation provision
forbids employer actions that discriminate against an employee . . . bbedhse
opposed a practice that Title VII forbids or has made a charge, testified, assisted, or
participated in a Title VII investigation, proceeding, or hearing.” (citations and
guotation marks omitted)).

Within the traditionaMcDonnell Douglasramewak for Title VII

claims, a plaintiff first has the burden to establish a prima facie case for retaliation.
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Wallis v. J.R. Simplot Co26 F.3d 885, 889 (9th Cir. 1994). If a plaintiff
establishes a prima facie case, “the burden of production shifts teeténdant,
who must offer evidence that the adverse action was taken for other than
impermissibly[retaliatory] reasons.|d. Once the defendant fulfills this burden,
“the plaintiff must demonstrate that the employer’s alleged reason for the adverse
enployment decision is a pretext for another motive whidhealiatory].” Id.
(quotingLowe v. City of Monrovia775 F.2d 998, 1005 (9th Cir. 1985) (internal
guotation marks omitted)).
2. Plaintiff Fails the First Step of thevicDonnell DouglasFramewak
Plaintiff fails at the first step of thdcDonnell Douglagramework.
That is, she fails testablish a prima facie case of retaliation.

“To make out grima facieretaliation case, [a plaintiff] ha[s] to show
that she engaged in protected activity, that she suffered a materially advense acti
and that there was a causal relationship between the Westedorf v. W. Coast
Contractors of Ney.712 F.3d 417, 422 (9th Cir. 2013) (citiBgrlington N. &

Sante Fe Ry. Cp548 U.S. at 57)And whek the adverse action is a reassignment
of job duties, “[w]hether a particular reassignment is materially adverse depends
upon the circumstances of the particular case, and ‘should be judged from the

perspective of a reasonable person in the plaintiff' #ipas considering all the
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circumstances.””Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. G&®48 U.S. at 71 (finding that a
reasonable jury could conclude a reassignment was mbtewakerse where the
new duties were “more arduous and dirtier,” the previous duties “required more
gualifications, which is an indication of prestigarid the previous duties “were
objectively. .. better” and “the male employees resented” for having them).
Here, Plaintiff complains about the reassignment of hecket
truck” Bucké trucks have “a lift in the back” that all@technicians to do aerial
work. Morris Dep. 229:14£3. At 397, Verizon technicians used both bucket
trucksand vans. Morris Dep. 230:281:15. Because there were more
technicians at 397 than bucket trucksme employees had to use vans when they
were not doing aerial work. Llewellyn Decl2§. Although some emplegs
were generally assigned ¢pecific bucket truck other employees might use the
assigned trucks if the other employees required thetiamed equipment.
Mattos Decl. 126.
On August 23, 2012, Plaintiff went on medical lealzéewellyn
Decl. 117. For several monthsrior to hermedical leave, Plaintiff was informally
assigned to apecific bucket truck Contreras Dep.QR:3-19. On October 5, 2012,
Plaintiff returned to 397 from medical leave without any advaiutiee. See, e.g.

Llewellyn Decl. § 25; Mattos Decl. § 25, 27; Morris Dep. 21622:1. Upon her
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return Contrerasnformed her that hpermanentlyeassigned her budkeuck to a
different employee. Contreras Dep. 101112:2 Morris Decl. {12. Without
access to her specific bucket truck, Plaintiff used her personal truck for two hours
before going home and extending her medical lederris Dep. 226:121,
231:21232:2. When she later returned from medical leave, she accepted a
reassignment from 397 to Aiea, so that she never discovered what vehicle she
would have hadhstead of her previously assigned bucket truck.

Plaintiff fails to show howthe “permanent’reassignment dier
bucket truck, Morris Decl. 2, was “amateriallyadverse action,WWestadorf,
712 F.3d at 422 (emphasis adde@pecifically, there is no evidence that her job
became “more arduous” or less “prestig[ipuBurlington Northern & Santa Fe
Railway Co, 548 U.S. at 71, after losirtgat particular bucket truckAlthough
Plaintiff usedher personal truck when she returigetthout noticg on October 5,
2012,nothing in the record shows that Verizon failegptovide Plaintiff with an

alternative vehicle, such as a van, to use instead of her personal@fugk. XX,

® For the purpose of Defendant’s Motion, the court assumes that Plaintiff's complaints
about sexual harassment were protected activity, and that the close fyrtetween Plaintiff's
complaints and the bucket truck reassignment could certainly give rise to r@maef@fa causal
relationship between the tw&ee Villiarimo v. Aloha Island Air, Inc281 F.3d 1054, 1065 (9th
Cir. 2002) (“[Clausation can be inferred from timing alone where an adverseyengpibaction
follows on the heels of protected activity.”).
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ECF No. 6146 (email from Llewellyn to Plaintiff stating that Llewellyn’s
investigation found that “[w]hen you returned October 5 you wereiged

another vehicle that still enabled you to do your jol&hd nothing in the record
suggests that Plaintiff would have received a materially worse vehicle had she
returned to 397 after hamedicalleave. Cf. Mattos Decl. | 27 (“[D]u¢o

[Plaintiff]'s seniority, she would very likely have received a new, higher quality
truck upon receipt of an upcoming truck deliveryAnd Plaintiff's claim that the
“loss of the truck impacted my ability to do my job that | was being trained for at
thetime,” Morris Decl. {12, provides her no support. She worked only a few
hours on October 5, and was transferred to Aiea upon her return t¢andrihere
Is no evidence that bucket trucks were used or necessary at Aiea)

Simply put, Plaintiff has failed to establish what Verizon reassigned
her to, or how that reassignment was materially worse than her previously assigned
bucket truck.See, e.gAki v. Univ. of Cal. Lawrence Berkeley Nat'l LaB4 F.

Supp. 3d 1163, 1181 n.7 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (“The Court is also persuaded that
Plaintiff’'s purported loss of an assigned truck is an adverse action, as such a loss
would make it much more difficult for Plaintiff to get to job sites around LBNL’s

200-acre property.”).
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Plaintiff has not established thite permanenteassignment of her
bucket truck was a materially adverse action, and as a result, has failed to establish
a prima facie case of retaliatienthe first step of thélcDonnell Douglas
framework. As to Plaintiff's retaliation claim, Defendant’'s Motion is GRANTED.
C. Disability Discrimination

Plaintiff further argues that Verizon discriminated against her on the
basis of her disability in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990
(“ADA"), 42 U.S.C. §12101" There appears to be two separate allegations
regarding ADA violations: (1Yerizon failed to provide a reasonable
accommodation by not hiring Plaintiff in a “light duty” capadityring the period
when Plaintiff was recovering from her injury; and Y2rizon failed to
congructively engage in the interactive process by arbitrarily changing Plaintiff's
work requirements, delaying the date when Plaintiff could return to “full’duty
Pl.’s Opp’n at 3340. The courfirst sets out the legal framework for disability

discriminaion under the ADA, and theaddresses Plaintiff'allegations in turn.

" Plaintiff also brings state law claims for disability discrimination under HR®52.
Compl. 1. Because the Hawaii statutes are textually similar to the ADA, Hawaii calops
the federal analysis of ADA claims$ee French v. Haw. Pizza Hut, In@9 P.3d 1046, 1051
(Haw. 2004). As aresult, the court’s analysis does not distinguish between &dkséhte
disability discrimination claims.
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1. Legal Framework

The ADA states: “No covered entighall discriminate against a
gualified individual on the basis of disability in regard to job application
procedures, the hiring, advancement, or discharge of employees, employee
compensation, job training, and other terms, conditions, and privileges of
employment. 42 U.S.C. 812112(a).“Discrimination” includes'not making
reasonable accommodations to the known physical or mental limitations of an
otherwise qualified individual with a disability who is an applicant or employee,
unless such covered entity can demonstrate that the accommodation would impose
an undue hardship on the operation of the business of such conergd éd.
§12112(b)(5)(A).

To establish a prima facie case for failure to accommodate under the
ADA, a plaintiff must show that: “(1) [s]he is disabled within the meaning of the
ADA,; (2) [s]he is a qualified individual able to perform the essentiattions of
the job with reasonable accommodation; andgJBe suffered an adverse
employment action because of [her] disabilitllen v. Pac. Be]l348 F.3d 1113,
1114 (9th Cir. 2003)And “[o]nce an employer becomes aware of the need for
accommodaobn, that employer has a mandatory obligation under the ADA to

engage in an interactive process with the employee to identify and implement
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appropriate reasonable accommodatiort$timphrey v. Mem’l Hosp. Ass'839
F.3d 1128, 113(9th Cir. 2001).
2. Failure to Hire Plaintiff in a “Light Duty” Capacity

Plaintiff first contends that Verizon could have reasonably
accommodated her by hiring her in a “light duty” capaaityle she recovered
from her injury Pl’s Opp’n at 3836. Because there was no ‘figduty” job
available for Plaintiff to perform, the court disagrees.

Plaintiff suffered her physical injury on June 17, 20EX. CCC,
ECF No. 6150. Dr. Cupo’s medical report, dated August 15, 2013, listed the
following limitations on Plaintiff’'s abity to work:

[Plaintiff] is not totally disabled and can work full time

limited duty as she completes further diagnostic testing

and treatment of... the injury of 6/17/13, with the

following restrictions: no squatting, kneeling, or ladder

climbing; nodriving a commercial vehicle; no standing

greater than 15 minutes without a fis@nute sitting

break; and no lifting greater than 15 lbs
Ex. 1, ECF No. 74& (emphasis added). In an email to Plaintiff, dated November

22,2013, Cerminaro lists Plaintiff's limitations as Verizon understood them:

Restrictions as of 125-13

Work 4 hrs. a day

Lifting and Carrying-- 15 Ibs. occasionally,-8 Ibs.
frequently

Sit 20-30 min without a breakduration as tolerated
Stand 510 min. without a breaktota duration 3 hrs.

29



Walk 510 min. without a breaktotal duration 1 hr.
Bend and twist at waist rarely

Bend at knees not at all

Work above the waist not at alll

5 min. break for every 15 min. stand and walking
Must be able to lie down for 1in. every hour

Ex. NN at 3, ECF No. 621. In a follow-up email to Plaintiff, dated April 10,
2014, Cerminaro listed Plaintiff's limitations as Verizon understood them,
according to an evaluation on March 13, 2014:

No lifting/carrying over 15 pounds.

No bending at the knees.

No work above chest height.

Must be able to lie down for 10 minutes for every
hour spent working.

5.  Only allowed to work up to four hours per day.

PN E

Id. at 7. This email went on to address Plaintiff's request for “light duty”:

Unfortunately, your request for some form of “light duty”
assignment is not one that can be accommodated. As you
know, Verizon’s operations in Hawaii are limited. Its
workforce in Hawa consists almost exclusively of
technicians and management. There are no “light duty”
technician assignments, nor are there any management
positions that you are qualified to fill.

Plaintiff has failed to show how she could have performed the
esential functions of her job despite these extensive physical limitations. In her

Opposition, Plaintiff argues that Verizon could have accommodrieattiff
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because Verizon had “a policy of providing light duty as [Plaintiff's] own
supervisor testified he would purposely not assign certain workers to go down into
the manhole or do other heavy tasks if he didn’t think they could do it.” Pl.’s
Opp’n at 36.To be specific, Contreras discussed how he did not make some
technicians go into manholes besauhey were old or too big to fit. Contreras

Dep. 107:15108:13. But this only suggests that entering manholes was not an
essential function of Plaintiff's joand that a very minimal accommodation was
offered to some employeesit doesnotshow that someone with Plaintiff's

physical limitations could still perform technician’s essential functions.

Plaintiff’'s physical limitations are clearly greater than those of
someone who is too large to enter a manhole. For example, Plaintiff admitted to
Llewellyn (on a November 21, 2013 phone call discussing how Verizon could
accommodate Plaintiff) that “she was unable to return to work at that time, as she
would have difficulty getting in and out of the work truck due to her constant
pain.” Llewellyn Decly 46.

Moreover Verizon investigated whether there were any positions that
could accommodate Plaintiff's “light duty” request, and found that no such
position existed.ld. 143; see als&Ex. NN at 7, ECF No. 641 (email to Plaintiff

explaining that th only positions in Hawaii were management and technicians
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and Plaintiff was unqualified for management and physically incapable of being a
technician).And Verizon was not required to create a new “light duty” position to
accommodat®laintiff. See Wdihgton v. Lyon Cty. Scibist., 187 F.3d 1150,

1155 (9th Cir. 1999) (“[T]he ADA does not impose a duty to create a new position
to accommodate a disabled employeel'gylor v. Dep’t of the AiForce 585 F.

App’x 381, 38283 (9th Cir. 2014)seealsoMoss v. Harris Cty. Constable

Precinct One851 F.3d 413, 419 (5th Cir. 2017) (“Even if he was capable of
performing the work, Moss would still need to provide evidence supporting a
finding that there was a light duty position available to be filled, whecdid not

do.”).

Because Plaintiff has failed to show that she could have performed the
essential functions of her job, or any other job at Verizon for which she was
qualified, Defendant’'s Motion is GRANTED as to the disability discrimination
claim re@rding a failure to accommodate Plaintiff's “light duty” request.

3. Raising Plaintiff's Lifting Requirements

Plaintiff next argues that Verizdailed to engage in the interactive

process in good faith when it delayed her return to work by increasimgi#Ps

lifting requirements.Pl.’s Opp’n at 3739. Because there is a genuine issue of
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material fact as to whether Verizon engaged in the interactive process in good
faith, the court DENIES Defendant’s Motion as to this claim.

“The interactive process requires communication and gjaitiu
exploration of possible accommodations between employers and individual
employees, and neither side can delay or obstruct the pro¢éssiphrey 239
F.3d at 1137see also id(“A party that obstructs or delaylsd interactive process
IS not acting in good faith.”) (quotingeck v. Univ. of Wis. Bd. of RegemS F.3d
1130, 1135 (7th Cir. 1996))f an employer fails to engage in the interactive
process in good faith, it “face[s] liability for the remedies imposed by the statute if
a reasonable accommodation would have been possBégtiett v. U.S. Air, Ing.

228 F.3d 1105, 1116 (9th Cir. 2000) (en bawmakated on other grounds.S.

Airways, Inc. v. Barnetb35 U.S. 391 (2002). Additionally, “an employannot
prevail at the summary judgment stage if there is a genuine dispute as to whether
the employer engaged in good faith in the interactive procéds.”

Here, there is evidence that Verizon originally requ{mdat least,
expectedPlaintiff to ke able to lift sixty pounds before returning to work full time,

full duty. SeeEx. 16, ECF No. 68 (rehabilitation program, dated February 23,
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2015, setting sixty pounds as the objectf/&ome months later, after Plaintiff
began her work hardening program, Mattos completed a “Job Analysis” report that
increased the lift requirement to one hundred pouBas.17 at 45, ECF No. 764
(report dated October 13, 2015). After this change, Plaintiff sent two letters to
Plaintiff, requesting an explanation for the change and a reversion back to the
sixty-pound requirementld. at 1 (letter dated December 1, 2015y; 18, ECF
No. 691 (letter dated January 8, 2016). There is no evidence #netovi ever
explained the change, or reverted the requirement back to sixty pounds. Rather,
Verizon permitted Plaintiff to return to work on March 15, 2016, without
restriction, despite the fact that Plaintiff failed to pass thehumelredpound lift
requirement two weeks earlieGeellewellyn Decl. 152; Ex. 20, ECF No. 69.
Consequently, there is evidence that Verizon effectively delayed the
interactive process by raising Plaintiff's lift requirement from sixty to one hundred

pounds. And becauseparty that delays the interactive process is not acting in

8 Although Dr. Izuta’s rehabilitation program for Plaintiff does not explicitiesthat
Verizon set the goals for Plaintiff to reach before her return to work, thermeumstantial
evidence that Verizon indeed set the go&lee, e.g.Ex. NN at 27, ECF No. 641 (email from
Plaintiff to Cerminaro, dated January 7, 2015, questioning the accuracy of the “requsrement
[Verizon’s] chart” given to Dr. Izutajd. at 26(email from Cerminaro to Plaintiff, dated January
30, 2015, confirming that “the charts [Verizon] sent to Dr. l1zuta” do “accurately ste
physical requirements of [Plaintiff’s] positignEx. 17, ECF No. 7@t (Plaintiff’s letter to
Verizon, dated December 1, 2015, explaining that she understood Verizon set a sixty-pound
lifting requirement). And Verizon has not offered any evidence to suggestdichivt set the
original sixty-pourd lifting requirement for Dr. Izuta.
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good faithHumphrey 239 F.3d at 1137, there is a genuine dispute of material fact
as to whether Verizon engaged in good falths unclear if the raised lifting
requirementctuallydelayed Rintiff's ability to return to worlk{and if it did, the
length of the delay)and that is an issue that shall be determined at trial.

Because there is a genuine dispute of material fact as to whether
Verizon engaged in the interactive process in goid, fRefendant’s Motion is
DENIED as to the claim regarding the lift requirement increase.
D. Failure to Investigate and Failure to Prevent

Lastly, Plaintiff alleges claims for failure to investigate and failure to
prevent discrimination and harassment in violatiomidé VII. Compl. 150. At
the July 10, 2017 hearing, counsel for both parties agreed that theseackims
predicated on Plaintiff's harassment and discrimination claims. That isphey
survive to the extent that Plaintiff's harassment and discrimination claims survive.
Thus, the court GRANS Defendant’s Motion as to claims predicated on
retaliation and failure to provide Plaintiff a “light duty” jolnd DENIES
Defendant’s Motion as to claims predicated on hostile work environment a

increasing the lifting requirements for Plaintiff's return to full time
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V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Defendant’s Mdoo®Summary
Judgment, ECF No. 60, is GRANTE43 to Plaintiff'sfederal and statelaims for
retaliation and failure to provide Plaintiff a “light duty” jadmpd DENIEDas to
Plaintiff's federal and state claims for hostile work environment and increasing the
lifting requirements for Plaintiff's return to full time

IT1S SOORDERED.

DATED: Honolulu, Hawaij August3, 2017

/s/ J. Michael Seabright
J. Michael Seabright
Chief United States District Judge

Morris v. Verizon Fed., IncCiv. No. 15-0026 IMSKSC, Order Granting in Part and Denying
in Part Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF No. 60
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